
 
 
Bill Cullen MBA (ISM), BA(Hons) MRTPI 

Chief Executive 

 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Members of the Planning Committee 

 
 Mrs MJ Crooks (Chairman) 

Mr DJ Findlay (Vice-Chairman) 
Mrs CM Allen 
Mr RG Allen 
Mr CW Boothby 
Mr MB Cartwright 
Mr DS Cope 
Mr WJ Crooks 
Mr REH Flemming 
 

Mr A Furlong 
Mr SM Gibbens 
Mr E Hollick 
Mr KWP Lynch 
Mrs LJ Mullaney 
Mr RB Roberts 
Mrs H Smith 
Mr BR Walker 
 

 
Copy to all other Members of the Council 
 
(other recipients for information) 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
There will be a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE in the De Montfort Suite - Hub on 
TUESDAY, 12 NOVEMBER 2019 at 6.30 pm and your attendance is required. 
 
The agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Rebecca Owen 
Democratic Services Manager 
 

Date: 04 November 2019 

Public Document Pack



 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

Fire Evacuation Procedures 
 

 On hearing the fire alarm, leave the building at once quickly and calmly by the nearest 
escape route (indicated by green signs). 

 

 There are two escape routes from the Council Chamber – at the side and rear. Leave 
via the door closest to you. 

 

 Proceed to Willowbank Road car park, accessed from Rugby Road then Willowbank 
Road. 

 

 Do not use the lifts. 
 

 Do not stop to collect belongings. 
 
 

Abusive or aggressive behaviour 
 
We are aware that planning applications may be controversial and emotive for those affected 
by the decisions made by the committee. All persons present are reminded that the council will 
not tolerate abusive or aggressive behaviour towards staff, councillors or other visitors and 
anyone behaving inappropriately will be required to leave the meeting and the building. 
 
 

Recording of meetings 
 

At HBBC we are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, 
filming and photography at all public meetings including Council, the Executive and Planning 
Committee as long as doing so does not disturb or disrupt the proceedings. There may 
occasionally be some reports that are discussed in private session where legislation requires 
this to happen, but this is infrequent. 
 
We also allow the use of social media during meetings, which helps to bring the issues 
discussed to a wider audience. 
 
Members of the public, members of the press and councillors are hereby informed that, in 
attending the meeting, you may be captured on film. If you have a particular problem with this, 
please contact us so we can discuss how we may accommodate you at the meeting. 
 
 

Use of mobile phones 
 

To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, please switch off your phone or other 
mobile device or turn it onto silent or vibrate mode. 
 

Thank you 



 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE -  12 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

2.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 15 October 2019. 

3.   ADDITIONAL URGENT BUSINESS BY REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES  

 To be advised of any additional items of business which the Chairman decides by reason 
of special circumstances shall be taken as matters of urgency at this meeting. 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive verbally from Members any disclosures which they are required to make in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct or in pursuance of Section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992. This is in addition to the need for such 
disclosure to be also given when the relevant matter is reached on the agenda. 

5.   QUESTIONS  

 To hear any questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12. 

6.   DECISIONS DELEGATED AT PREVIOUS MEETING  

 To report progress on any decisions delegated at the previous meeting. 

7.   19/01035/FUL - LAND ADJACENT TO 1 BACK LANE, MARKET BOSWORTH (Pages 5 - 
18) 

 Application for erection of 1 No. detached dwelling. 

8.   19/00901/FUL - THE RETREAT FARM, WHITTINGTON LANE, THORNTON (Pages 19 - 
26) 

 Application for installation of 19 lamp posts along driveway (retrospective). 

9.   APPEALS PROGRESS (Pages 27 - 32) 

 To report on progress relating to various appeals. 

10.   ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES HAVE TO BE 
DEALT WITH AS MATTERS OF URGENCY  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



-68 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 OCTOBER 2019 AT 6.30 PM 
 
 
PRESENT: Mrs MJ Crooks - Chairman 
 Mr DJ Findlay – Vice-Chairman 
Mrs CM Allen, Mr RG Allen, Mr CW Boothby, Mr SL Bray (for Mr MB Cartwright), 
Mr REH Flemming, Mr A Furlong, Mr SM Gibbens, Mrs DT Glenville (for Mr WJ Crooks), 
Mr E Hollick, Mrs LJ Mullaney, Mr RB Roberts, Mr MC Sheppard-Bools (for Mr KWP 
Lynch) and Mr BR Walker 
 
Officers in attendance: Jenny Brader, Rhiannon Hill, Julie Kenny, Michael Rice and 
Nicola Smith 
 

187 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Cartwright, WJ Crooks, 
Lynch, Smith and Walker, with the following substitutions authorised in accordance with 
council procedure rule 10. 
 
Councillor Bray for Councillor Cartwright 
Councillor Glenville for Councillor WJ Crooks 
Councillor Sheppard-Bools for Councillor Lynch 
 

188 MINUTES  
 
It was proposed by Councillor RG Allen, seconded by Councillor Bray and  
 

RESOLVED – the minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2019 be 
confirmed and signed by the chairman. 

 
189 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor Flemming declared an interest in application 19/00743/FUL as he was a 
member of the Burbage Neighbourhood Development Group. 
 
Councillors Glenville and Walker declared that they were members of the Burbage 
Parish Council and Councillor Glenville confirmed she would not participate in discussion 
for application 19/00743/FUL as she had voted at the parish council Planning 
Committee. 
 
Councillors CM Allen and RG Allen declared an interest in application 19/00607/FUL as 
they were members of Earl Shilton Town Council.  
 

190 DECISIONS DELEGATED AT PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
19/00619/OUT was issued. 
 
19/00625/DEEM would be issued this week. 
 
19/00253/CONDIT unable to be issued due to appeal for non-determination. 
 

191 18/01237/FUL - LAND ADJACENT HINCKLEY LEISURE CENTRE, COVENTRY ROAD, 
HINCKLEY  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

-69 - 

 
Application for erection of 66 apartments within two apartment blocks and 7 houses, 
including the provision of access, open space and associated infrastructure. 
 
Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor RG Allen proposed that permission be granted 
with an additional condition to allocate car parking. Upon being put to the vote the motion 
was carried and it was 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
(i) Permission be granted subject to  

 
a. A condition being imposed requiring that a S106 agreement be 

entered into prior to the commencement of development to 
secure the following obligations: 

 Health - £17, 574.48 

 Education – to be provided 

 Civic Amenity - £3,616.00 

 Libraries - £1,980.00 

 Highways - £22,500 towards two Traffic Regulation Orders, 
two six month bus passes per dwelling, appointment of 
travel plan co-ordination, £6,000 travel plan monitoring fee, 
land to be gifted to LCC Highways for the provision of a 
cycle route. 

 Town Centre Improvements - £170,000.00 

 Public Open Space - £137,482.30 

 20% Affordable Housing on site with a 50:50 tenure split of 
affordable rent and affordable home ownership 
 

b. Planning conditions outlined in the report, in late items and the 
above mentioned additional condition. 

 
(ii) That the Planning Manager be granted powers to determine the 

final detail of planning conditions; 
 

(iii) That the Planning Manager be granted powers to determine the 
terms of the S106 agreement including trigger points claw back 
periods. 

 
192 19/00785/OUT - LAND REAR OF  4-28 MARKFIELD ROAD, RATBY  

 
Application for erection of four dwellings (outline – access, layout and scale). 
 
Notwithstanding the officer’s recommendation that permission be granted it was moved 
by Councillor Boothby and seconded by Councillor RG Allen that permission be refused. 
Upon being put to the vote the motion was lost.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Sheppard-Bools and  

 
RESOLVED –  
 
(i) Planning permission be granted subject to conditions contained in 

the officer’s report; 
 

(ii) The Planning Manager be granted powers to determine the final 
detail of planning conditions.  

Page 2



 

-70 - 

 
193 19/00607/FUL - LAND WEST OF  BREACH LANE, EARL SHILTON  

 
Application for erection of three detached dwellings. 
 
It was moved by Councillor RG Allen, seconded by Councillor CM Allen and 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
(i) Permission be granted subject to  

a. Planning conditions outlined in the officer’s report and late 
items 

b. The completion of a legal agreement to secure play and open 
space and off site affordable housing contributions 

 
(ii) The Planning Manager be granted powers to determine the final 

detail of planning conditions and legal agreement. 
 

194 19/00743/FUL - GROVE HOUSE, GROVE ROAD, BURBAGE  
 
Application for erection of five dwellings with vehicular access and associated parking 
and garages. 
 
It was moved by Councillor RG Allen, seconded by Councillor Roberts and  
 

RESOLVED –  
 
(i) Permission be granted subject to conditions outlined in the officer’s 

report; 
(ii) The Planning Manager be granted powers to determine the final 

detail of planning conditions. 
 

195 19/00887/HOU - 22 FLAXFIELD CLOSE, GROBY  
 
Application for a single storey front, side and rear extension, including new fence and 
gates. 
 
Notwithstanding the officer’s recommendation that permission be granted it was moved 
by Councillor Hollick and seconded by Councillor Sheppard-Bools that permission be 
refused due to the scale of the development, being out of character with the area and 
loss of garden amenity. Upon being put to the vote the motion was carried and it was 
 

RESOLVED – permission be refused for the above given reasons. 
 

196 APPEALS PROGRESS  
 
The committee received an update on progress to various appeals. It was  
 

RESOLVED – the report be noted. 
 
 

(The Meeting closed at 7.29 pm) 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee 12 November 2019 
Report of the Planning Manager 
 
Planning Ref: 19/01035/FUL 
Applicant: Mrs Judith Sturley 
Ward: Cadeby Carlton M Bosworth & Shackerstone 
 
Site: Land Adjacent To 1 Back Lane Market Bosworth 
 
Proposal: Erection of 1 No. detached dwelling 
 

 
© Crown copyright. All rights reserved Hinckley & B osworth Borough Council LA00018489 Published 2006  

 
This application is to be considered by the planning committee in accordance with 
the scheme of delegation as the applicant is an employee of the council.  
 

1. Recommendations 

1.1. Refuse planning permission  subject to the reasons at the end of this report. 

2. Planning Application Description 

2.1. This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of one detached two 
storey dwelling on land adjacent to 1 Back Lane, Market Bosworth.   

2.2. This application is a revised scheme of application 15/00716/FUL, which was 
previously refused. The previous application was refused for the following reasons:-  

“The proposed dwelling due to its siting and location would detrimentally impact 
upon an important protected view and vista, an area of designated local green 
space and the importance of the historic setting of the Market Bosworth 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



conservation area as a designated heritage asset. The proposed development 
would conflict with Policies CE1, CE2 and CE3 of the Market Bosworth 
Neighbourhood Development Plan, Policies DM4 and DM10 of the emerging Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD, Policies BE1 and NE5 of 
the Hinckley & Bosworth Local Plan 2001 and Policy 11 of the Hinckley & Bosworth 
Core Strategy 2009. Furthermore the proposal would conflict with the aims of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and in particular paragraphs 17 and 133 - 
134.” 

2.3. The proposed dwelling is modern in its design and appearance covering a large 
part of the width of the plot. The design would comprise a large sloping roof 
measuring 7.6 metres in height to the ridge at the highest point when measured 
from the rear of the dwelling. The design also comprises a flat roof timber clad area 
to the front of the first floor and a flat roof brick area to the first floor. The length 
would measure 16.7 metres with the width measuring 5.3 metres at the widest point 
which is at the rear. An external terrace area is proposed to the rear at first floor 
level. Materials comprise locally sourced red brick with timber cladding and slate 
roof. Two bedrooms are proposed with a third bedroom/study also proposed.  

2.4. Access to the dwelling would be served via a new driveway connecting to the 
existing track off Back Lane with parking proposed to the front of the dwelling for 
two vehicles. 

 

2.5. An existing public footpath which runs through the site at present is proposed to be 
diverted to land adjacent to the dwelling. 

2.6. The main change from the previously refused scheme is the reduction in height of 
the dwelling by 1.6 metres at the highest point. The dwelling is situated in an altered 
position, projecting further to the rear than the previous application.  
 

3. Description of the Site and Surrounding Area 

3.1. The site consists of two narrow parcels of land, comprising of a 7 metre wide strip 
and a narrower 5 metre wide strip of land. Footpath S69 cuts through the 
application site, from Back Lane and extends north into the wider countryside and is 
proposed to be diverted west into the narrower section of land associated with the 
application site. The two parcels of land are separated by a boundary hedge. Land 
levels drop to the north of the site.  

3.2. The southern boundary is defined via an existing track accessed off the corner of 
Back Lane. To the west of this is another public footpath with Market Bosworth 
Academy beyond to the south. Immediately adjoining the application site to the east 
is 1 Back Lane, a two storey brick built property, situated in a row of other 
residential properties along Back Lane, which are set at a similar depths along Back 
Lane.  

 

3.3. The site is located outside of but adjacent to the defined settlement boundary and 
the Market Bosworth Conservation Area.  

4. Relevant Planning History  

14/00494/FUL Erection of one new 
dwelling 

Withdrawn 22.07.2014 

15/00716/FUL Erection of one 
detached dwelling 
(revised proposal) 

Refused 23.12.2015 

85/00852/4 Erection of dwelling 
outline 

Refused 22.10.1985 

Page 6



5. Publicity 

5.1. The application has been publicised by sending out letters to local residents.  A site 
notice was also posted within the vicinity of the site and a notice was displayed in 
the local press. 

5.2. As a result of the public consultation, responses from four separate addresses 
objecting to the application have been received on the following grounds:-  

1) If cars were to park on the site they could diminish the easement permitting 
rights of way on the land; 

2) The applicant is laying claim to land which they do not own; 
3) The proposal would spoil the views of the open countryside;  
4) It is in conflict with the conservation area character appraisal, neighbourhood 

plan and policies set out in the Site Allocations Document; 
5) The site is outside the settlement boundary;  
6) The site is an important feature in the rural setting of Market Bosworth; 
7) The housing needs for Market Bosworth are already met, there is no need for 

additional housing;  
8) Impact on the character of two important approaches into Market Bosworth 

via the two public footpaths;  
9) Inappropriate as a retirement home;  

10) Add to the congestion in the area impacting on parking and waste collections; 
11) Loss of privacy and overshadowing to the neighbouring property;  
12) Out of keeping with the other properties in the area;  

6. Consultation 

6.1. No objection, some subject to conditions has been received from:- 

Environmental Health (Pollution) 
Environmental Health (Drainage) 
Leicestershire County Council (Highways) 
Street Scene Services (Waste)  
Leicestershire County Council (Archaeology) 
 

6.2. Market Bosworth Parish Council objects to the application for the following 
reasons:- 

1) The application is not only outside the settlement area but on designated local 
green space land that is identified within the Neighbourhood Plan as the Silk 
Hill area; 

2) The application does not demonstrate any benefits that outweigh the harm to 
this important green space. The proposed dwelling would totally obscure the 
views and vistas shown on the Proposals Map for the neighbourhood plan; 

3) The proposed dwelling does not reflect nor is it in keeping with any of the 
adjacent character areas; 

4) The vista from Back Lane across Silk Hill and beyond would be obscured and 
the view into the town together with this unique green finger of land which 
penetrates into the town would no longer exist; 

5) Concern about the many subjective and qualitative statements throughout the 
Design Statement which can present misleading information; 

6) Concern over car parking spaces. The area proposed for parking is adjacent 
to Back Lane and the narrow agricultural track serving recently approved 
stables. Delivery lorries and school buses also use this part of Back Lane.  

Page 7



The proposal will severely impact on the traffic flow and access for the larger 
vehicles;  

6.3. The Market Bosworth Society objects to the application on the following grounds:- 

1) Impact on the important protected view damaging views and vistas of the of 
the designated local green space; 

2) Encroaching onto vital footpath widely used by walkers which leads to canal 
and railway corridor;  

3) In conflict with numerous policies in the Market Bosworth Neighbourhood Plan 
and the Core Strategy;  

4) Impact on parking. When the car park to the nearby doctors surgery is in use 
visitors will park on the verges of the track which will be encroached upon by 
the proposed dwelling;  

5) Several of the plans are not to scale and therefore not safe to rely upon; 

6) The design would have a poor relationship with adjoining buildings and would 
conflict with the pattern of development;  

7. Policy 

7.1. Market Bosworth Neighbourhood Plan 2014-2026 

• Policy CE1: Character and Environment  
• Policy CE2: Local Green Space  
• Policy CE3: Important Views and Vistas 

7.2. Core Strategy (2009) 

• Policy 7: Key Rural Centres 
• Policy 11: Key Rural Centres Stand Alone  
• Policy 19: Green Space and Play Provision  

 

7.3. Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD (2016) 

• Policy DM1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
• Policy DM3: Infrastructure and Delivery 
• Policy DM4: Safeguarding the Countryside and Settlement Separation 
• Policy DM7: Preventing Pollution and Flooding  
• Policy DM10: Development and Design 
• Policy DM11: Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment 
• Policy DM12: Heritage Assets 
• Policy DM13: Preserving the Boroughs Archaeology  
• Policy DM17: Highways and Transportation 
• Policy DM18: Vehicle Parking Standards 

 

7.4. National Planning Policies and Guidance 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 
• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
• Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)Act (1990)  
• Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations (2010) 

 

7.5. Other relevant guidance 

• Landscape Character Assessment 2017  
• Market Bosworth Conservation Area Appraisal  

 
 

Page 8



8. Appraisal 

8.1. Key Issues 

• Assessment against strategic planning policies 
• Design and impact upon the character of the area 
• Impact upon neighbouring residential amenity 
• Impact upon highway safety 
• Drainage 
• Impact upon Archaeology  
• Obligations  
• Planning Balance 
• Other matters  

 

 Assessment against strategic planning policies 

8.2. Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 (NPPF) 
states that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the 
starting point for decision making. Where a planning application conflicts with up-to-
date development plan permission should not usually be granted unless other 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

8.3. The development plan in this instance consists of the Core Strategy (2009); Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies (SADMP) and the Market 
Bosworth Neighbourhood Plan which was made in September 2015.  

 

8.4. The spatial distribution of growth across the Borough during the plan period 2006-
2026 is set out in the adopted Core Strategy. This identifies and provides 
allocations for housing and other development in a hierarchy of settlements within 
the Borough.  

 

8.5. However, the housing policies in the development plan are considered to be out-of-
date as they focus on delivery of a lower housing requirement than required by the 
up-to-date figure and the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing land 
supply when using the standard method set out by MHCLG. Therefore, the 
application should be determined against Paragraph 11(d) of the Framework 
whereby permission should be granted unless adverse impacts would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 

8.6. This is weighed in the balance of the merits of any application and considered with 
the policies in the Site Allocations and Development Policies DPD, the Core 
Strategy and the Market Bosworth Neighbourhood Development Plan which are 
attributed significant weight as they are consistent with the Framework. 

 

8.7. Policy BD2 of the Market Bosworth Neighbourhood Plan allocates land to the south 
of Station Road to meet the needs of the settlement as set out in Policy 11 of the 
Core Strategy. However the NDP does not prevent development on non-allocated 
sites. 

 

8.8. As the site is situated outside the defined settlement boundary of Market Bosworth 
which is situated to the east and south of the application site. Policy DM4 of the 
SADMP is therefore applicable and states that the countryside will first and 
foremost be safeguarded from unsustainable development. Development in the 
countryside will be considered sustainable where:  
 

Page 9



• It is for outdoor sport of recreation purposes (including ancillary buildings) and it 
can be demonstrated that the proposed scheme cannot be provided within or 
adjacent to  settlement boundaries; or 

• The proposal involves the change of use, re-use or extension of existing 
buildings which lead to the enhancement of the immediate setting; or 

• It significantly contributes to economic growth, job creation and/or diversification 
of rural businesses; or 

• It relates to the provision of stand-alone renewable energy developments in line 
with policy DM2: Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Development; or 

• It relates to the provision of accommodation for a rural worker in line with Policy 
DM5: Enabling Rural Worker Accommodation. 
and:  

•  It does not have a significant adverse effect on the intrinsic value, beauty, open   
 character and landscape character of the countryside; and 

•  It does not undermine the physical and perceived separation and open  
 character between settlements; and 

•  It does not create or exacerbate ribbon development; 
 

8.9. The site does not fall under any of the categories identified in DM4 as sustainable 
development and there is a clear conflict therefore between the proposed 
development and the policy. However, given that the Council is currently unable to 
demonstrate a five year housing land supply, paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is 
engaged and therefore a ‘tilted balance’ assessment must be made and the 
proposal will need to be carefully weighed in the planning balance along with the 
detailed assessment of all other material planning considerations in this case. 
 

Design and impact upon the character of the area  

8.10. Policy DM10 of the SADMP seeks to ensure that new development should 
complement or enhance the character of the surrounding area with regard to scale, 
layout, density, mass, design, materials and architectural features. Policy DM4 of 
the SADMP seeks to resist unsustainable development within countryside locations 
and seeks to ensure proposals reflect the surrounding character of the countryside, 
and protect its intrinsic value, beauty and open character. 
 

8.11. Policy 11 of the Core Strategy places special emphasis on the protection of fingers 
of green open land which penetrate towards the market place as these are 
important to the rural setting of the town as supported by the Market Bosworth NP.  

8.12. The Market Bosworth Neighbourhood Development Plan (MBNDP) was adopted in 
2015 and therefore full weight is afforded to relevant policies within the Document. 

 

8.13. Policy CE1 of the Market Bosworth NP seeks to ensure that all new development 
within Market Bosworth is in keeping with this character area in regard to scale, 
layout and materials to retain local distinctiveness and create a sense of place. 
There are different character areas across Market Bosworth with the site located on 
the edge of character area D (Suburban Residential) and E (Historic Core).  

8.14. Policy CE2 of the NP states that new development that is incompatible with the 
importance of the local green space as an attractive publicly accessible area will not 
be allowed unless there are very special circumstances where the benefits of the 
development clearly outweigh any harm.  The proposed dwelling does not provide 
any benefits that would outweigh harm to the site as an important area of local 
green space. The proposal would therefore conflict with Policy CE2 of the Market 
Bosworth NDP which seeks to prevent development unless there are very special 
circumstances where the benefits of the development clearly outweigh any harm.  

 

Page 10



8.15. Market Bosworth is a ridge top settlement with areas of woodland, parkland and 
countryside converging towards a historic market place. This sharp transition from 
rural to urban form is a key characteristic of the conservation area. The siting of the 
field track and public footpaths at their junction on Back Lane, all fronting the 
application site, allows for the provision of an excellent vista looking north-west into 
the countryside which clearly highlights the transition from the village centre to open 
countryside. As such this vista has been identified as a feature to be protected in 
the Market Bosworth Conservation Area Appraisal (2014), with the current open 
and undeveloped character of the site allowing the significance of this part of the 
conservation area to be fully appreciated.  As such this vista has been identified as 
a feature to be protected in the Market Bosworth Conservation Area Appraisal and 
the Market Bosworth NDP. 

 

8.16. When approaching the village from the undulating slopes of Silk Hill there is also a 
view into the historical core of the village which includes  the spire of St Peters 
Church, a grade II* listed building. The application site forms part of this view so is 
therefore considered to be located within the wider setting of this listed building. 

 

8.17. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
places a duty on the local planning authority when determining applications for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural and historic interest which it possesses. Section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a conservation area. 
 

8.18. Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides the national 
policy on conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Paragraph 193 of the 
NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation. Paragraph 196 states that “where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 

 

8.19. Policies DM11 and DM12 of the Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies (SADMP) DPD seek to protect and enhance the historic environment. All 
proposals for development affecting the setting of listed buildings will only be 
permitted where it is demonstrated that the proposals are compatible with the 
significance of the building and its setting. Development proposals should ensure 
the significance of a conservation area is preserved and enhanced. 

8.20. The undulating slopes of Silk Hill allow for a view into the historical core of the 
village including the spire of St Peters Church, via some modern dwellings of a 
suburban character which are adjacent to the application site and by virtue of its 
location the proposed dwelling would continue to maintain the view of the church 
spire when entering the conservation area from Silk Hill. 

 

8.21. The proposal represents a contemporary design whilst utilising building materials 
traditional to the nearby historical core of the Conservation Area (and the wider 
area) for its construction. The dwelling would be dug into the ground to seek to 
reduce its visual prominence, having regard to its scale and massing, it is 
considered that the proposal would not adversely impact upon the views into the 
village from Silk Hill (views looking eastwards from public rights of way) with the 
dominance of the church spire being maintained in these views. As such despite 
being located within the wider setting of the grade II* listed Church of St Peter the 

Page 11



proposal is not considered to harm the significance of this listed building for the 
above reasons. Although the proposed dwelling, would be more contemporary in 
nature, it is considered to largely reflect the suburban character of the dwellings 
immediately adjacent along Back Lane and the character of the view into the 
conservation area from its setting on Silk Hill would therefore be largely maintained. 

 

8.22. The proposed dwelling would be situated back within the plot away from the 
frontage, and is to be dug down into the ground to reduce its scale, alongside 
consideration being given to ensuring the eaves and ridge height of the property 
respect those of the adjacent dwelling, which has sought to reduce the proposed 
dwellings visual prominence and minimise any potential impact on the character of 
the adjacent conservation area and maintain the vista adjacent to the sites frontage. 
Whilst welcomed, it is considered that the extent of the vista into the countryside 
from Back Lane would be reduced, although the reduction in the extent is not as 
great as within the previously refused application (ref: 15/00716/FUL). In terms of 
the adverse effects on the character and appearance of the conservation area, this 
would still equate to harm to its significance.  

 

8.23. The harm would be less than substantial and no more than minor in magnitude due 
to the design and siting considerations listed above. Nevertheless, in accordance 
with Policy DM11 of the SADMP and paragraph 196 of the NPPF the harm caused 
by the proposal should be weighed against the public benefits. Public benefits may 
follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers economic, 
social or environmental progress as described in the NPPF (paragraph 8). Public 
benefits may include heritage benefits as specified in the Planning Practice 
Guidance (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment – paragraph 20), 
such as: 

 

• Sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution 
of its setting 

• Reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset 
• Securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term 

conservation 
 

8.24. The proposal has failed to demonstrate any heritage benefits however there are 
other (non-heritage) public benefits associated with the proposal that should be 
taken into account; these would include the provision of a new self-build dwelling, 
some short-term employment from the construction of the dwelling, and the 
continued use of local facilities and services by the future occupants. There may 
well be further public benefits associated with the proposal that should be taken into 
account, but taken as a whole the level of these benefits would have to be of the 
level required to outweigh the harm caused by the proposal taking into account the 
great weight that should be given to the assets conservation (para.193 of the 
NPPF) and the requirements of Policy DM11 of the SADMP.  

 

8.25. Whilst attempts have been made to respond to the constraints of the site they do 
not outweigh the harm caused to the setting of the Conservation Area, and a 
dwelling in this location. The harm would be less than substantial however it is not 
considered any public benefits associated with the scheme would outweigh the 
harm. The proposal is therefore contrary to paragraph 196 of the NPPF 2019 and 
policy DM11 of the SADMP.  

 

8.26. Policy CE1b states new development should pay particular attention to existing 
rooflines in Character Areas D and E and not harm important views. The proposed 
roofline would be in contrast to the existing properties along Back Lane through 
both design and height. It would also impact upon important views into the 

Page 12



countryside. The proposal is therefore in conflict with Policy CE1b of the 
neighbourhood plan.  

 

8.27. The proposed development would therefore have a detrimental impact upon the 
important view and vista as defined in Policy CE3 of the Market Bosworth 
Neighbourhood Plan. The proposed development would be contrary to Policy CE2 
where new development is incompatible with the defined local green space, and no 
benefits have been demonstrated which would outweigh the harm to this important 
area of local green space. The introduction of a dwelling, in the proposed location 
also fails to preserve the special character of the setting of the adjacent 
conservation area, where the transition from village centre to open countryside, is 
an identified feature to be protected, contrary to Policies DM11 and 12 of the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD, Section 16 of the NPPF 
and the statutory duty of section 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Impact upon neighbouring residential amenity 

8.28. Policy DM10 of the adopted SADMP requires development proposals should not 
have a significant adverse effect on the privacy and amenity of nearby residents 
and occupiers of adjacent buildings and the amenity of occupiers of the proposed 
development would not be adversely affected by activities in the vicinity of the site. 

8.29. The proposed dwelling would be situated immediately adjacent to No. 1 Back Lane. 
During the course of the application concerns have been received that the proposal 
would have a detrimental impact on the amenity to the neighbouring property.  

 

8.30. The dwelling projects further to the rear than the previous application (Ref: 
15/00716/FUL). However the neighbouring dwelling is set away from the boundary, 
and due to the changes in levels within the site, and having regard to the proposed 
dwelling being set into the land, the ridge height of 1 Back Lane would be greater 
than the application dwelling, so it would not result in a significant degree of 
overshadowing to make the proposal significantly harmful in amenity terms.  
 

8.31. Concerns have been raised regarding the rear balcony. However it would be an 
improved relationship on the previous scheme (15/00716/FUL) which was not 
considered to result in a significant loss of privacy to warrant a refusal on amenity. 
The proposed scheme positions the balcony further away from the boundary and 
beyond the rear elevation on 1 Back Lane, reducing impacts further than previously 
considered under 15/00716/FUL. However, should planning permission be granted 
it is considered necessary to impose a condition, to ensure that the balcony would 
be opaquely screened along the east facing side, reducing overlooking at oblique 
angles, ensuring that the impact would be no greater than a first floor habitable 
room.   
 

8.32. The proposal also seeks a first floor side facing study/bedroom overlooking the 
adjacent field. Whilst not ideal the proposal would not overlook any residential 
properties and therefore no loss of amenity would be experienced through this 
development. The proposal does not therefore conflict with policy DM10 of the 
SADMP.  
 

Impact upon highway safety and Public Rights of Way  

8.33. Policies DM17 and DM18 of the SADMP state that proposals will not be acceptable 
where they have a detrimental impact upon highway safety or the satisfactory 
functioning of the local highway network including public rights of way. 
 

8.34. Objections have been received during the course of the application regarding the 
position of the access and the parking within the local highway authority. 
 

Page 13



8.35. Leicestershire County Council (Highways) have considered the application and 
raise no objection the proposed development subject to conditions, to control and 
secure access and parking prior to occupation of the dwelling. The proposed 
development would be accessed from Back Lane and would provide 2 off street 
parking spaces to the front of the dwelling to meet parking standards. The proposal 
would generate a low number of vehicular movements that are unlikely to 
significantly impact upon the immediate area or wider network when considered 
cumulatively with other developments. 

 

8.36. The application also proposes to divert the existing public footpath (S69) running 
through the site onto adjacent land. No response has been received as yet from 
Leicestershire County Council (Public Rights of Way) and this will be reported as a 
late item. However the applicant would need to formally apply for and gain consent 
for a footpath diversion order under Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 should planning permission be granted. 
  

8.37. Subject to the development being carried out in accordance with the recommended 
conditions, the proposal would be in accordance with Policies DM17 and DM18 of 
the adopted SADMP.  

Drainage 
 

8.38. Policy DM7 of the adopted SADMP seeks to prevent development from resulting in 
adverse impacts on flooding by ensuring that development does not create or 
exacerbate flooding. 
 

8.39. The application site is within Flood Zone 1, (low less than 1 in 1,000 annual 
probability of flooding).  Environmental Health (Drainage) has assessed the 
application and has no objection to the principle of the dwelling in this location, and 
recommends a note to applicant should permission be granted suggesting surface 
water be managed by sustainable methods. If ground strata are insufficiently 
permeable to avoid discharging some surface water off site flow attenuation 
methods should be employed. They also recommend parking and turning areas to 
be constructed in a permeable paving system, with or without attenuation storage 
depending on ground strata permeability.  

 

8.40. Therefore subject to the development being carried out in accordance with these 
details, the proposal would be in accordance with Policy DM7 of the adopted 
SADMP.  

 

Impact upon Archaeology  
 

8.41. Policy DM11 and DM12 of the adopted SADMP seeks to ensure that development 
proposals shall protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment.  
 

8.42. The application site is situated within an area of archaeological interest as identified 
within The Leicestershire and Rutland Historic Environment Record. The proposal 
site is adjacent to the Conservation area and partly included within the historic 
settlement core of Husbands Bosworth (HER Refs: DLE675 and MLE2935). The 
development proposals include works such as foundations which are likely to 
impact upon those remains.  

 

8.43. Leicestershire County Council (Archaeology) does not object to the proposal.  It 
seeks further information with regard to the archaeological evaluation of the site. 
This information can be secured by condition and is considered to be a reasonable 
approach to ensure that any archaeological remains present are treated 
appropriately. Subject to the inclusion of this condition the development would not 
have a detrimental impact upon the understanding of the significance of any 

Page 14



heritage asset, and would therefore be in accordance with Policies DM11 and 
DM12 of the SADMP.  

 

Obligations  
 

8.44. Policy DM3 of the adopted SADMP requires development to contribute towards the 
provision and maintenance of necessary infrastructure to mitigate the impact of 
additional development on community services and facilities. However, the PPG is 
clear that obligations for affordable housing should not be sought form applications 
of 10 or less residential units or where a site area does not exceed 0.5ha, which this 
site does not.  
 

8.45. The request for any planning obligations (infrastructure contributions) must be 
considered alongside the requirement contained within the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL). The CIL Regulations confirm that where 
developer contributions are requested they need to be necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms, directly related and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development proposed. Policy 19 of the 
adopted Core Strategy seeks to address existing deficiencies in the quality, quantity 
and accessibility of green space and children’s play provision within settlements. 

 

8.46. The nearest public amenity space to the application site is The Square, Market 
Place (reference MKBOS22), The garden of remembrance (MKBOS24) both of 
which have quality scores of 71 and 72% in the Open Space and Recreation Study 
(2016) which is close to the target quality score of 80%. 

 

8.47. Any requested infrastructure contribution for public play and open space facilities 
would need to be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
and therefore CIL compliant, however, in this case, the proposal is for only one 
dwelling which would not have any significant impact on existing play and open 
space facilities. Therefore, notwithstanding Policy DM3 of the adopted SADMP and 
Policy 19 of the adopted Core Strategy, no contribution has been pursued in this 
case. 

 

Planning Balance  
 

8.48. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70(2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

8.49. The NPPF is a material consideration in determining applications. Paragraph 11 of 
the NPPF identifies that plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, and for decision taking this means approving 
development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan. As 
previously identified the housing policies in the adopted Core Strategy and the 
adopted SADMP are now considered to be out of date as they focussed on delivery 
of a lower housing requirement than required by the up-to-date figure. The Council 
also cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. Therefore, the ‘tilted’ 
balance in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF applies where the permission should be 
granted unless adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

8.50. The proposal would be in conflict with Policy DM4 of the adopted SADMP as it does 
not support new residential development outside the settlement boundary. This 
policy is in accordance with the NPPF and has significant weight.  
 

8.51. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that sustainable development has three 
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in 

Page 15



mutually supportive ways. The assessment of the three dimensions relative to this 
proposal are as follows: 

 

8.52. Economic – The scheme would provide limited benefits to the local economy 
through the creation of jobs and demand for services and materials for the 
construction of the development itself and from the future occupation of the 
development supporting businesses in the wider rural area. 

 

8.53. Social – The scheme would provide a small contribution to the overall housing 
supply within the Borough through the provision of one new dwelling. The proposal 
would however provide a dwelling in an area where there is no additional housing 
allocation outside the defined settlement boundary of Market Bosworth other than 
the proposed allocated site to the south of Station Road, Market Bosworth.  

 

8.54. Environmental - Although the proposal is situated outside the settlement boundary, 
it is immediately adjacent to it, and not in an isolated position, with development 
positioned to its east and south of the site, and would be in close proximity to the 
local services of Market Bosworth. However the identified harm caused by the 
development upon an important protected view and vista, and an area of 
designated local green space in addition to the adverse effects on the character and 
appearance of the conservation area, the proposal would result in significant and 
demonstrably harm, which would not be outweighed by the benefits when assessed 
against the NPPF.  

 

Other matters  
 

8.55. The Street Scene Services (Waste) Officer has stated domestic recycling, garage 
waste and refuse is from the adopted highway boundary and no development shall 
take place until a scheme for adequate provision of waste and recycling has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority should permission be 
granted.  

9. Equality Implications 

9.1. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty.  
Section 149 states:- 

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to: 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

9.2. Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty in 
the consideration of this application.  The Committee must also ensure the same 
when determining this planning application. 

9.3. There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 

9.4. The decision has been taken having regard to all relevant planning legislation, 
regulations, guidance, circulars and Council policies, including General Data 
Protection Regulations (2018) and The Human Rights Act (1998) (HRA 1998) which 
makes it unlawful for the Council to act incompatibly with Convention rights, 
specifically Article 6 (right to a fair hearing); Article 8 (right to respect for private and 
family life); Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 
(prohibition of discrimination). 

Page 16



10. Conclusion 

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70(2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

10.2. The application site is situated outside the settlement boundary of Market Bosworth 
and therefore in the countryside, where strategic adopted development plan policy 
DM4 of the adopted SADMP seeks to protect the countryside from unsustainable 
development, including new residential development.  

 

10.3. However, the housing policies in the adopted Core Strategy and the adopted 
SADMP are out of date and the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land 
supply. Therefore, the ‘tilted’ balance in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF applies where 
permission should be granted unless adverse impacts would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

10.4. The dwelling is situated within an identified within an important view and vista and a 
designated local green space as identified within the MBNP. Due to the siting and 
location of the proposed dwelling, it is considered that the proposed dwelling would 
have an impact upon this identified protected view and vista, an area of designated 
local green space and the importance of the historic setting of the Market Bosworth 
conservation area as a designated heritage asset, the impacts of which would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

10.5. The proposal would therefore fail to comply with local and national planning policies 
including Policies CE1, CE2 and CE3 of the Market Bosworth Neighbourhood 
Development Plan, Policies DM1, DM4, DM10, DM11 and DM12 of the SADMP and 
Core Strategy Policy 11, and on balance the limited benefits of the development 
would not be considered to outweigh the demonstrable harm of this development.  

 

11. Recommendation 

11.1. Refuse planning permission subject to the reasons at the end of this report. 

11.2. Reasons  

1) The proposed dwelling due to its siting and location would detrimentally impact 
upon an important protected view and vista, an area of designated local green 
space and the importance of the historic setting of the Market Bosworth 
conservation area as a designated heritage asset. The proposed development 
would conflict with Policies CE1, CE2 and CE3 of the Market Bosworth 
Neighbourhood Development Plan, Policies DM1, DM4, DM10, DM11 and 
DM12 of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD and 
Policy 11 of the Hinckley & Bosworth Core Strategy 2009. Furthermore the 
proposal would conflict with the aims of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and in particular paragraphs 193 and 196. 

Page 17



 

11.3. Notes to Applicant  

1) This application has been determined with regard to the following documents 
and plans:-  
 

Planning Application Form 
Design and Access Statement  
Site Location Plan L1006 B 
Wider site plan L1005 B 
Block plan L1001 B 
Proposed Ground Floor Plan no. L1100 B 
Proposed First Floor Plan no. L1101 B 
Proposed North Elevation 1202 B 
Proposed West Elevation 1200 B 
Proposed East Elevation 1203 B 
Proposed South Elevation 1201 B 
View no 1 comparison drawing 1210 B 
View no 2 comparison drawing 1211 B 
View no 3 comparison drawing 1217 B 
View no 1 looking east 1210 B 
View no 2 looking east 1211 B 
View no 3 looking north 1212 B 
  

Received on the 16 and 30 September 2019. 
 

Page 18



Planning Committee 12 November 2019 
Report of the Planning Manager 
 
Planning Ref: 19/00901/FUL 
Applicant: Mr Adrian Johnson 
Ward: Ratby Bagworth And Thornton 
 
Site: The Retreat Farm Whittington Lane Thornton 
 
Proposal: Installation of 19 lamp posts along drive way (retrospective) 
 

 
© Crown copyright. All rights reserved Hinckley & B osworth Borough Council LA00018489 Published 2006  

 
1. Recommendations 

1.1. Grant planning permission subject to: 
 

• Planning conditions outlined at the end of this report. 

2. Planning Application Description 

2.1. The application seeks permission for the retention of 19 ornate lamp posts which 
have been installed on the north side of the access driveway leading from 
Whittington Lane to the property. The access drive is approximately 340 metres in 
length. The lamp posts are located at 30 metre intervals.  

2.2. The lamp posts comprise black cast iron posts with a Heritage style design lamp. 
They are 3.7 metres in height and lit with LED 1600LM (18w) bulbs. The lighting is 
fitted with motion sensors which switch at either end of the access points, either at 
the gate from Whittington Lane, or the house (depending on direction of travel) and 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



remain illuminated for a period of approximately 7 minutes. The sensors are not 
triggered by birds or bats.  

3. Description of the Site and Surrounding Area 

3.1. The application site relates to a farming complex with a recently constructed 
dwelling and associated barns. The site is located within the countryside to the east 
of Thornton Reservoir and to the west of Whittington Lane. The application site is 
located outside of the settlement boundary of Thornton, and within the open 
countryside.  
 

3.2. The site is accessible from a private access, off Whittington Lane, situated to the 
east of the farmstead. There is a distance of approximately 340 metres from the 
highway to the farmyard and dwelling. Due to the changes in levels from 
Whittington Lane to the farmstead and the reservoir beyond to the west. Given the 
change in levels, there are far reaching views across Thornton Reservoir to 
Thornton village to the south-west.  

3.3. The land is undulating with areas of woodland, hedgerows and open fields.  

4. Relevant Planning History  

14/00847/FUL Erection of an 
agricultural building 

Approved  28.10.2014 

 

15/00950/FUL 

Demolition of existing 
dwelling and erection 
of dwelling and 
agricultural building 

Approved  20.11.2015 

17/00157/CONDIT Variation of condition 
2 of planning 
permission 
15/00950/FUL to 
amend design of 
replacement dwelling 

Approved  08.06.2017 

17/01156/FUL 1.5m high entrance 
gate, 1.7m high 
entrance pillars, 1m 
high enclosure 
fencing 

Withdrawn 06.03.2018 

5. Publicity 

5.1. The application has been publicised by sending out letters to local residents.  A site 
notice was also posted within the vicinity of the site and two letters of objection have 
been received during the course of the application, raising the following points:-  

1) 19 lamp posts are severely intrusive, disturbing residents whose properties 
face the reservoir; 

2) Bright lights reflecting on the water across the reservoir has resulted in being 
unable to sleep with curtains open;  

3) Light pollution and adverse environmental impact; 
4) Lights switch on and off randomly causing disturbance through the night; 
5) No site notice has been displayed;  
6) Sensors are picking up wildlife movement; 

Page 20



 

6. Consultation 

6.1. No objections, some subject to conditions, have been received from:-  

Environmental Health (Pollution)  
Leicestershire County Council (Ecology)  
Leicestershire Country Council (Highways)  
Natural England  
 

6.2. The application has been called – in by Ward Councillors O’Shea and Boothby on 
the grounds that the lamp posts are unacceptable as they cause light pollution and 
nuisance to facing neighbours across the reservoir. 

6.3. Bagworth and Thornton Parish Council object to the application on light pollution 
stating that the lights are intrusive and have an adverse environmental impact. 

7. Policy 

7.1. Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD (2016) 

• Policy DM1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
• Policy DM4: Safeguarding the Countryside and Settlement Separation 
• Policy DM6: Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geological Interest 
• Policy DM7: Preventing Pollution and Flooding 
• Policy DM10: Development and Design 
• Policy DM17: Highways and Transportation 

 

7.2. National Planning Policies and Guidance 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 
• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 

7.3 Other Guidance 
 

• Institution of Lighting Engineers: Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Light 
Pollution (2000) 
 

8. Appraisal 

8.1. Key Issues 

• Assessment against strategic planning policies  
• Design and impact upon the character of the area 
• Impact upon neighbouring residential amenity 
• Impact upon highway safety 
• Other matters  

 

Assessment against strategic planning policies  
 

8.2. Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework Feb 2019 (“NPPF”) 
identifies that planning law requires that applications for planning permission must 
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph 2 of the NPPF also identifies that the 
NPPF is material planning consideration in planning decisions. Paragraph 12 of the 
NPPF states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision making. Where a planning application conflicts with up-to-date 
development plan permission should not usually be granted unless other material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

Page 21



8.3. The development plan in this instance consist of the adopted Core Strategy (2009) 
and the adopted Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document (2016) (SADMP). 

 

8.4. The application site is located outside the settlement boundary of Thornton and is 
on land designated as countryside within the SADMP. 

 

8.5. Policy DM1 of the adopted SADMP provides a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Policy DM4 of the adopted SADMP states that to protect its intrinsic 
value, beauty, open character and landscape character, the countryside will first 
and foremost be safeguarded from unsustainable development. The policy goes on 
to list a number of categories of development that would be considered sustainable 
in the countryside subject to there being no significant adverse effects on the 
character or appearance of the countryside.  

 

8.6. The proposal seeks the erection of 19 lamp posts to serve the existing farmstead 
and dwelling, and its associated access, the development would support the 
existing permitted use and therefore would be considered acceptable in principle, 
subject to meeting the sub-criteria of DM4. 

 

Design and impact upon the character of the area 
 

8.7. Policy DM4 seeks to protect the intrinsic value, beauty, open character and 
landscape character of the countryside. Policy DM6 requires proposals to 
demonstrate that they will not cause harm to habitats or can adequately mitigate 
against any harm that cannot be prevented. Policy DM7 requires proposals to 
demonstrate that reasonable steps are taken through design, siting and 
technological solutions to ensure the abatement of obtrusive light to avoid sky glow 
 

8.8. Policy DM10 of the SADMP requires new development to complement or enhance 
the character of the surrounding area with regard to scale, layout, density, mass, 
design, materials and architectural features. 
 

8.9. The lighting is required for security purposes to light the driveway from the highway 
to the farmyard (and vice versa). The lights are on a timer of approximately 7 
minutes which enables vehicles safe access to the road (or the dwelling) on what 
would otherwise be an unlit stretch of road.   

8.10. The lighting columns are spaced approximately 30 metres apart which is a similar 
distance to street lights. They are 3.7 metres in height and have a matt black finish, 
and of heritage style, in terms of their design and appearance. Although lighting 
columns are not usually seen in such proliferation, the numbers of posts are 
proportionate to the length of the driveway, which is a considerable distance from 
the highway.  Combined with their height, design and finishes, the lights are 
considered to be unobtrusive within the countryside setting.  

8.11. There are hedgerows with trees interspersed along the western side of Whittington 
Lane which screen the entrance to the site from far reaching views.  The lighting 
columns can be seen from Whittington Lane when approaching the site entrance 
from the south. However as they are located on the eastern side of the existing 
driveway, they are not easily seen when approaching the entrance from the north. 
In this regard the lighting columns do not have an obtrusive impact on the 
countryside location from views from Whittington lane.  

8.12. Due to the undulation of the land, the dwelling is built on the brow of the hill and is 
visible over long distances from Thornton (to the south-west) across the reservoir. 
However, there are only intermittent views of the driveway from the Reservoir path 
which runs adjacent to the site along its western boundary with only the lighting 
columns that are located within the farmyard visible from the public footpath which 

Page 22



skirts the banks of the reservoir. Again, in daylight, the lighting columns are not 
easily apparent from the public footpath, due to the matt black finish, and do not 
appear obtrusive or out of character with this rural setting.  

8.13. In regard to long reaching views from Thornton, the lighting columns are not visible 
in daylight.  

8.14. Any impact on the countryside location would be apparent during the hours 
between dusk and dawn where, with the absence of street lighting, light emitting 
from the lighting columns could cause harm through unnecessary light pollution and 
impact on natural habitats particularly with some types of bats that are sensitive to 
light as increasing levels can impact on foraging routes. 

8.15. The Council’s Light Zone Map (Appendix 6 of the SADMP) shows this site within 
environmental zone 1 (Natural (intrinsically dark). The Institute of Lighting 
Professionals Guidance sets out specific constraints for lighting within 
environmental zones. Within each zone, targets are applied for sky-glow, light 
intrusion, glare, luminaire intensity and building luminance. The Guidance suggests 
that lighting in E1 areas should be kept to a minimum. The lamps are to be lit with 
PRO LED GLS bulbs each with strength of 1600 lumens (equivalent 100W). 
Although it is acknowledged that the lighting would have some impact on the night 
sky, as they are motion sensored and serve one dwelling it is not considered that 
there would be so much traffic movement that would entail the lights being triggered 
time and time again. In this regard it is considered that the impact of the lights on 
the night sky would not cause uncontrollable light pollution or have a long lasting 
negative effect on the dark sky zone.  

 

8.16. In regard to the impact the lighting may have on habitats and ecology, the applicant, 
via his agent, has stated within his submission that he has sought advice from 
RammSanderson Ecology Ltd who confirm that as the lights are fitted with motion 
sensors and are only on for a limited time this accords with Best Practice for Bats 
and Lighting (BCT and ILP 2018) and any adverse impact on bats would be 
extremely unlikely.  

8.17. Leicestershire County Council Ecology have concurred with the advice supplied by 
RammSanderson Ecology Ltd. Although originally concerned by the introduction of 
lighting into a ‘dark’ area of countryside, they have advised that as the lights are set 
on timer based motion sensors this will significantly reduce the impacts on bats and 
there are no objections to the proposal providing that the lights are continued to 
operate in this way and do not switch to being on at all times including throughout 
dusk and then turned off at night. It is considered appropriate to impose a Condition 
in regard to the operation of the lights.  

8.18. In this regard, the proposal complies with Policies DM4, DM6, DM7 and DM10 of 
the SADMP. 

Impact upon neighbouring residential amenity 

8.19. Policy DM10 of the SADMP requires that development does not adversely affect the 
amenities or privacy of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 

 

8.20. During the course of the application objections have been received in respect to 
lighting, from this application, is causing nuisance to residents whose properties 
face east across the reservoir towards the site. These properties are approximately 
1 km to the south-west as the crow flies; and no evidence has been presented of 
this intrusion. There are also no recorded Environmental Health complaints of light 
pollution from this application source. 

 

8.21. Notwithstanding this, dwellings to the south-west are also situated on the brow of a 
hill and would have clear views across the reservoir, however following consultation 

Page 23



with Environmental Health, and having regard to the positioning of the driveway to 
the north-east of the dwelling, the lights limited use, and the strength of the lighting 
proposed it is not considered that the proposal would have such a significant impact 
on residents within Thornton village. As such in this regard the proposal complies 
with Policy DM10 of the SADMP.  

Impact upon highway safety 

8.22. Policy DM17 of the SADMP states that proposals should demonstrate that there 
would not be a significant impact upon highway safety. 
 

8.23. The lighting of the driveway would ensure a safe access for the occupier and 
visitors to and from the property after dark. The nearest lamp post to the main 
highway is approximately 30 metres from the road behind the gate. Leicestershire 
County Council (Highways) have considered the application, and do not considered 
that they would have any material impact upon the public highway.  

8.24. It is considered that the lighting columns would not have any impact on the existing 
road network or its users, and would therefore comply with Policy DM18 of the 
SADMP. 

Other matters  

8.25. The application has been publicised appropriately with adjacent neighbours notified 
by letter and a site notice displayed adjacent to the entrance on Whittington Lane. 
 

9. Equality Implications 

9.1. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty.  
Section 149 states:- 

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to: 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

9.2. Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty in 
the consideration of this application.  The Committee must also ensure the same 
when determining this planning application. 

9.3. There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 

9.4. The decision has been taken having regard to all relevant planning legislation, 
regulations, guidance, circulars and Council policies, including General Data 
Protection Regulations (2018) and The Human Rights Act (1998) (HRA 1998) which 
makes it unlawful for the Council to act incompatibly with Convention rights, 
specifically Article 6 (right to a fair hearing); Article 8 (right to respect for private and 
family life); Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property) and Article 14 
(prohibition of discrimination). 

10. Conclusion 

10.1. The proposal for the installation of 19 lighting columns along the driveway to 
Retreat Farm is acceptable in principle. The lighting columns would have no 
adverse impact on the character and appearance of the countryside location and 
the proposed lighting levels controlled by motion sensors on a time limit would not 

Page 24



have a negative impact upon bats or ecology, nor cause nuisance to residents of 
Thornton village. 

10.2. The proposal accords with Policies DM1, DM4, DM6, DM7 and DM10 of the 
SADMP and is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

11. Recommendation 

11.1. Grant planning permission subject to: 

• Planning conditions outlined at the end of this report. 
 

11.2. Conditions and Reasons  

1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than 
incomplete accordance with the submitted application details, as follows:  
Amended Site Location Plan (un-numbered) Received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 19 September 2019 
Example of Light Column 
Example of light Bulb 
Design & Access Statement 
Received by the local planning authority on 9 August 2019; 

 

Reason : To ensure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with 
Policies DM1 and DM10 of the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document (2016). 

 

2. The external lighting as installed shall remain in accordance with the 
approved details as follows; 
Amended Site Location Plan (un-numbered) Received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 19 September 2019 
Example of Light Column 
Example of light Bulb 
Received by the Local Planning Authority on 9 August 2019; the lighting shall 
be maintained and operated in accordance with the approved details in 
perpetuity.   

 

Reason : To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local 
residents from nuisance from artificial light in accordance with Policies DM4, 
DM7 and DM10 of the Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document (2016).  

 

3. The approved external lighting hereby approved shall only be operated by a 
motion sensor set on a 10 minute timer and be of no higher luminance than 
1600LM as agreed in the email dated 30 October 2019 from Landmark 
Planning Ltd  The 19 lamps must not be permanently illuminated at any time. 

 

Reason : To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local 
residents from nuisance from artificial light in accordance with Policies DM4 
DM7 and DM10 of the Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document (2016). 

  

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



  SITUATION AS AT: 01.11.19

 

FILE REF CASE 

OFFICER APPLICATION NO TYPE APPELLANT DEVELOPMENT Appeal Valid DATES

GS 19/00198/OUT
(PINS Ref 3239130)

WR Mrs Zoe Finlay

Spring Hill Farm

Wykin Road

Hinckley

Land Adjacent To 29

Elizabeth Road

Hinckley
(Erection of one dwelling (outline - all 

matters reserved))

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

17.10.19

19/00036/FTPP EC 19/00726/HOU
(PINS Ref 3238824)

WR Mr M Cordingley

48 Leicester Road

Hinckley

48 Leicester Road

Hinckley
(Two storey rear extension, hip to 

gable, porch, canopy porch and bay 

windows)

Start Date

Awaiting Decision

22.10.19

19/00626/HOU
(PINS Ref 3238671)

WR Miss Debra Suffolk

Hawthorne Cottage

Main Road

Upton

Nuneaton

Hawthorne Cottage

Main Road

Upton
(Two Storey Side Extension, 

Alterations, Detached Garage and 

revised Site Entrance)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

10.10.19

CG 19/00732/FUL
(PINS Ref 3238555)

WR Mr Singh

Marble Homes Ltd

27-35 Sussex Street

Leicester

112 High Street

Barwell
(Development of two 1 bedroom flats)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

08.10.19

CG 19/00391/CLUE
(PINS Ref 3238743)

IH George Denny

Old House Farm

Sutton Lane

Cadeby

The Old House Farm

Sutton Lane

Cadeby
(Certificate of lawful use for the change 

of use from agricultural land to 

residential curtilage)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

29.10.19

CG 18/01255/CLUE
(PINS Ref 3238520)

IH George Denny

Old House Farm

Sutton Lane

Cadeby

The Old House Farm

Sutton Lane

Cadeby
(Certificate of lawful use for the change 

of use from agricultural land to 

residential curtilage)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

29.10.19

WR - WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS                  IH - INFORMAL HEARING                          PI - PUBLIC INQUIRY

PLANNING APPEAL PROGRESS REPORT

1

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 9



19/00034/FTPP EC 19/00704/HOU
(PINS Ref 3237613)

WR Mr Paul Wragg

Barn B

Common Farm

Barton Road

Carlton

Barn B

Common Farm

Barton Road

Carlton
(Extension to existing barn conversion)

Start Date

Awaiting Decision

15.10.19

19/00033/NONDET SW 19/00772/OUT
(PINS Ref 3237098)

WR Mr Michael Hayward

Lea Grange Farm

Orton on the Hill

Atherstone

Lea Grange Farm

11 Twycross Lane

Orton On The Hill

Atherstone
(Demolition of agricultural building and 

erection of one detached dwelling 

(outline - access and layout only))

Start Date

Statement of Case

Final Comments

07.10.19

11.11.19

25.11.19

RW 19/00253/CONDIT
(PINS Ref 3236523)

WR Mr Gerry Loughran

Poundstretcher Limited

c/o Landmark Planning Ltd

Crown Crest PLC

Desford Lane

Kirby Muxloe

Leicester
(Variation of Condition 11 of planning 

permission 10/00332/FUL and planning 

permission 12/00313/CONDIT to 

extend the permitted days and hours 

during which deliveries can be taken at, 

or dispatched from, the site to: 

Mondays to Fridays (including Bank 

Holidays) 06.00 to 23.00; Saturdays 

08.00 to 18.00 and Sundays 09.00 to 

13.00.)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

09.09.19

19/00035/FTPP GS 19/00328/HOU
(PINS Ref 3236341)

WR Mr Martin Allen

35 Janes Way

Markfield

LE67 9SW

35 Janes Way

Markfield
(Boundary fencing to front and side of 

property (retrospective))

Start Date

Awaiting Decision

21.10.19

RH 19/00538/CQGDO
(PINS Ref 3236060)

IH Mr Rob Jones

Winfrey Farm

Dadlington Lane

Stapleton

Winfrey Farm

Dadlington Lane

Stapleton
(Prior notification for change of use of 

agricultural buildings to 5 

dwellinghouses (Class C3) and for 

associated operational development)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

16.09.19

19/00031/PP SW 19/00093/FUL
(PINS Ref 3235944)

WR Mr David Jackson

SW Jackson

Manor Farm

2 Carlton Road

Barton in the Beans

Manor Farm

2 Carlton Road

Barton In The Beans
(Demolition of existing agricultural 

buildings and erection of 8 dwellings 

with associated landscaping)

Start Date

Awaiting Decision

13.09.19

2

P
age 28



19/00032/PP CG 16/00758/FUL
(PINS Ref 3234826)

WR Mr Atul Lakhani

Farland Trading Ltd

36 Thurnview Road

Leicester

Land Adjacent 121

Station Road

Bagworth
(Erection of 10 no. dwellings and 2 no. 

flats (100% Affordable Scheme))

Start Date

Final Comments

19.09.19

07.11.19

19/00037/ENF TW 18/00300/UNHOUS WR Mr Stuart Mallinson

34 Wendover Drive

Hinckley

34 Wendover Drive

Hinckley
(Erection of a fence adjacent to a 

highway)

Start Date

Questionnaire

24.10.19

07.11.19

19/00027/PP SW 18/01252/OUT
(PINS Ref 3235401)

PI Glenalmond Developments 

Limited

Land East Of

Peckleton Lane

Desford
(Residential development up to 80 

dwellings with associated works 

(Outline - access only))

Start Date

Duration 3 days (TBC)

Decision Expected

28.08.19

27-29.11.19

30.01.20

19/00022/NONDET RW 19/00213/CONDIT
(PINS Ref 3229530)

WR Centre Estates Limited

99 Hinckley Road

Leicester

Land Off

Paddock Way

Hinckley
(Application Reference Number: 

17/00115/FUL (Appeal Reference: 

APP/K2420/W/17/3189810) Date of 

Decision: 13/09/2018

Condition Number(s): 2)

Start Date

Awaiting Decision

21.06.19

19/00020/PP JB 18/01104/FUL
(PINS Ref 3228815)

WR Mr Lee Brockhouse

A5 Aquatics

Meadowcroft Farm

Watling Street

Nuneaton

Land North Of

Watling Street

Nuneaton
(Erection of dwelling, detached garage, 

boat house, football pitch, creation of 

access and associated landscaping (re-

submission of 18/00207/FUL))

Start Date

Awaiting Decision

13.06.19

19/00030/ENF WH 18/00247/UNHOUS
(PINS Ref 3225956)

WR Miss Helen Crouch

49 Main Street, Bagworth

49 Main Street

Bagworth
(Creation of a balcony)

Start Date

Final Comments

06.09.19

08.11.19

3

P
age 29



TW 18/00268/UNUSES
(PINS Ref 3222721)

WR Mr Andrew Charles

Swanbourne

Dawsons Lane

Barwell

Land East Of The Enterprise 

Centre

Dawsons Lane

Barwell
(Siting of 2 storage containers ancillary 

to the existing equestrian use)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

29.03.19

AC 18/01051/FUL
(PINS Ref 3222720)

WR Mr Andrew Charles

Swanbourne

Dawsons Lane

Barwell

Land East Of The Enterprise 

Centre

Dawsons Lane

Barwell
(Siting of 2 storage containers ancillary 

to the existing equestrian use)

Appeal Valid

Awaiting Start Date

29.03.19

19/00028/FTPP CJ 18/01151/HOU
(PINS Ref 3221766)

WR Mr Richard Seabrook

25 Warwick Gardens

Hinckley

25 Warwick Gardens

Hinckley
(Erection of fence adjacent to highway 

above 1 metre)

Start Date

Site Visit

Final Comments

06.09.19

19.11.19

08.11.19

19/00029/ENF CJ 18/00344/UNHOUS
(PINS Ref 3221767)

WR Mr Richard Seabrook

25 Warwick Gardens

Hinckley

25 Warwick Gardens

Hinckley
(Erection of fence adjacent to highway 

above 1 metre)

Start Date

Site Visit

Final Comments

06.09.19

19.11.19

08.11.19

Decisions Received 

19/00025/PP CG/NW 19/00031/FUL
(PINS Ref 3232915)

WR Nine Points Property Ltd

c/o Agent

146 Hinckley Road

Barwell
(Change of use from children's day 

nursery to a residential care home for 

children with education facility)

ALLOWED 15.10.19

4

P
age 30



19/00016/PP AC 19/00303/FUL
(PINS Ref 3229645)

WR Ms Lisette Sampey

17 Main Street

Higham on the Hill

17 Main Street

Higham On The Hill

Nuneaton
(Demolition of existing workshop, 

garage and wall, subdivision of plot and 

erection of one detached dwelling, 

single storey front extension to existing 

dwelling and new access to serve 

existing dwelling)

DISMISSED 21.10.19

19/00015/PP JB 18/00732/FUL
(PINS Ref 3218401)

IH Statue Homes Limited

The Old House Farm

Sutton Lane

Cadeby

Nuneaton

Kyngs Golf And Country Club

Station Road

Market Bosworth
(Erection of multi-functional recreational 

building formation of a new car parking 

areas, new access roads and the 

proposed erection of 15 golf holiday 

DISMISSED

24.10.19

19/00021/PP JB 19/00230/FUL
(PINS Ref3229633)

IH Statue Homes Limited

The Old House Farm

Sutton Lane

Cadeby

Nuneaton

Kyngs Golf And Country Club

Station Road

Market Bosworth
(Change of use of vacant outbuilding to 

No. 1 holiday lodge and alterations to 

existing vehicular access onto Station 

Road to include the extension of the 

access drive)

ALLOWED 24.10.19

Designation Period 1 April 2018  - 31 March 2020

Appeal Decisions - 1 April 2018 - 31 October 2019 (Rolling)

Major Applications

No of Appeal 

Decisions
Allowed Dismissed Split Withdrawn

     Officer Decision                                                                                     

Allow       Spt         Dis       

Councillor Decision      

Allow       Spt         Dis 

Non Determination                                                                                     

Allow       Spt         Dis       

6 4 2 0 0          2             0            2        2           0             0      0              0            0

Total No of all Major decisions made/Total No of appeals allowed 7.46%

Minor/Other Applications

No of Appeal 

Decisions
Allowed Dismissed Split Withdrawn

     Officer Decision                                                                                     

Allow       Spt         Dis       

Councillor Decision      

Allow       Spt         Dis 

Non Determination                                                                                     

Allow       Spt         Dis       

59 14 44 1 0         13            1           40        0            0            4       1             0            0

5

P
age 31



Total No of all Minor/Other decisions made/Total No of appeals allowed 1.05%

Enforcement Appeal Decisions

No of Appeal 

Decisions
Allowed Dismissed Split Withdrawn

2 0 2 0 0

6

P
age 32


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 19/01035/FUL - Land Adjacent To 1 Back Lane, Market Bosworth
	8 19/00901/FUL - The Retreat Farm, Whittington Lane, Thornton
	9 Appeals progress

